# FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 6 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner, CLENK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chlor Deputy Clerk

vs.

CASE NO. 90,493

JOHN WEBER, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA TERENZIO
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 656879
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299
(561) 688-7759

ETTIE FEISTMANN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 892930

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and will be referred to herein as "petitioner" or "state." John Weber was the defendant in the trial court and appellant in the fourth district court of appeal, and will be referred to herein as "Weber" or "respondent."

In this brief the letter "T" is used to denote transcript of the proceeding.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

John Weber was convicted of one count of lewd assault and eleven counts of sexual battery. The fourth district court of appeal reversed Weber's convictions, holding that Weber's equivocal invocation of his right to counsel "requires law enforcement to clarify the assertion before the continuation of any interrogation." Weber v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D915, D916 (Fla. 4th DCA April 9, 1997). Petitioner adopts the facts summarized in the fourth district court's opinion as follows.

The victim is the son of Weber's live-in girlfriend. He alleged that Weber had engaged in repetitive acts of sexual misconduct with him over a one year period of time. After initially denying the allegations, Weber traveled to the police station where he took a polygraph examination and made a statement to the police.

The fourth district found that it is undisputed that Weber never made an unequivocal request for the appointment of a lawyer. However, the fourth district found that the facts surrounding Weber's invocation of his right to counsel are disputed, and said the following:

Weber testified that Sgt. Smith informed him of his Miranda[1] rights prior to the

polygraph examination. After the exam, Sgt. Smith informed Weber he had failed the examination and placed him under arrest. According to Weber, Smith screamed at him until he cried. Smith then suggested a deal, which included counseling for Weber. Smith told him that he thought that they should stop discussing the issue so that Weber could get an attorney.

Weber responded that he did not have an attorney and could not afford one. Smith then told him that the court would appoint one for him. According to Weber, he took that to mean he would not get a lawyer until he appeared in court. He didn't think he was entitled to a lawyer during questioning.

Sgt. Smith admitted that Weber may have asked about a lawyer, and that he responded that "one would be furnished for him." He remembered specifically that Weber did comment that he could not afford an attorney. Smith then testified that Weber never actually asked for a lawyer or refused to talk to the police without speaking to an attorney. Smith recalled Weber asking about a deal and that Smith indicated he should get an attorney for this purpose.

Officer Ponce testified that after Weber left Smith's examination room, they went straight into an interview room where Weber confessed on tape to molesting the child victim. Ponce did not give Miranda warnings again before obtaining the confession, but merely inquired if he remembered them. Weber never once indicated that he wished to stop talking and Ponce never promised Weber any leniency if he admitted his guilt. Ponce did not recall any conversation about Weber asking about a public defender.

The fourth district court acknowledged that this issue has been decided by the United States Supreme Court. The fourth

district however certified a question of great public importance because at the time the <u>Weber</u> opinion was issued at the fourth district, <u>Owen</u> was still pending before this Court regarding this issue. The fourth district found Weber's request for counsel equivocal invocation of his right to counsel, and certified the question of "whether *Davis*[2] applies to the admissibility of confessions in Florida in light of *Traylor v. State*, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992)."<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>United States v. Davis, 512 U.S. 452 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The fourth district court certified the same question, which was answered by this Court in the affirmative in <u>State v. Owen</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question by the fourth district court of appeal has been answered in the affirmative by this Court's opinion in State v. Owen, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997). This Court has held in Owen that the principles announced by the United States Supreme Court in United States v. Davis, 512 U.S. 452 (1994) apply to the admissibility of confessions in Florida in light of Traylor.

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER <u>DAVIS</u> APPLIES TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF <u>TRAYLOR</u>; THIS COURT HAS ANSWERED THIS CERTIFIED OUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE.

The fourth district court of appeal acknowledged that this issue had been decided by the United States Supreme Court in Davis in which the Court held that in order to invoke the right to counsel, the defendant must make an unequivocal request to invoke The fourth district, however, found that Weber's that right. questions constituted an equivocal invocation of his right to counsel, and held that Weber's assertion required law enforcement to clarify the assertion before the continuation of interrogation. For support of its holding the fourth district court in Weber cited to Slawson v. State, 619 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1993) (held that the defendant's question "What about an attorney?" was an equivocal request for counsel for which the police were permitted to initiate further communications for the sole purpose of clarifying the equivocal request) and Deck v. State, 653 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

In <u>Deck</u> the fifth district court of appeal relied on the following language in <u>Traylor</u>:

Under Section 9, if the suspect indicates in anymanner that he or she does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must not begin or, if it has begun, must immediately stop. (Emphasis in the <u>Deck</u> opinion).

653 So. 2d at 463 (Citing to <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d at 966).

The fourth district in <u>Weber</u>, which was issued on April 9, 1997, certified the question to this Court, because it relied on the above language of <u>Traylor</u>. A month later, on May 8, 1997, this Court issued its opinion in <u>Owen</u>, in which this Court explained its interpretation of the above language of <u>Traylor</u> as follows:

Traylor, we reaffirmed In federalist principles which give primacy to our state constitution and pointed out that the federal constitution represents the floor for basic freedoms while our constitution represents the ceiling. Id. at 962. our analysis in Traylor was grounded in the Florida Constitution, our conclusions were no different than those set forth in prior holdings of the United States Supreme Court. The words "indicates in any manner" added they were nothing to federal law, as identical to the words used in Miranda itself. Miranda[ v. Arizona,], 384 U.S. [436] at 473, 86 S. Ct. [1602] at 1627[, 16 L. Ed. Moreover, we did not 2d 694 (1966)]. construe these equivocal request words in Traylor, 596 So. 2d at 971. The words "in any manner" simply mean that there are no magic words that a suspect must use in order to invoke his or her rights.

Therefore, Traylor does not control

our decision in this case. It does, however, remind us that we have the authority to reaffirm *Owen* regardless of federal law. Upon consideration, we choose not to do so. We find the reasoning of *Davis* persuasive.

22 Fla. L. Weekly at S247 [e.s.]. This Court in Owen further stated that:

To require the police to clarify whether an equivocal statement is an assertion of one's Miranda rights places too great an impediment upon society's interest in thwarting crime.

22 Fla. L. Weekly at S247. Thus, in <u>Owen</u> this Court held that "police in Florida need not ask clarifying questions if a defendant who has received proper *Miranda* warnings makes only an equivocal or ambiguous request to terminate an interrogation after having validly waived his or her *Miranda* rights. [e.s.]"<sup>4</sup>

In the instant case, the fourth district held that Weber's request for counsel constituted an equivocal invocation of his right to counsel.<sup>5</sup> Thus, because the question certified by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The reasoning of *Davis* applies when a defendant makes an equivocal assertion of <u>any</u> right under *Miranda*. 22 Fla. L. Weekly at S247.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The record shows that Weber mentioned that he could not afford an attorney, and Smith told him that one would be appointed for him if he so desired (not later on), but Weber never took him up on it, and never mentioned it again (T 180-187). According to Smith, there was no mention of a time frame with regard to providing counsel for Weber (T 180-187). Petitioner also notes that when

fourth district in this case has been answered in the affirmative by this Court in <u>State v. Owen</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997), the certified question in <u>Weber</u> should be answered in the affirmative.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the affirmative based on <u>State v. Owen</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997), and apply <u>United States v. Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, to the instant case, reinstate Weber's confession, conviction and sentence.