IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

JUL 16 1997

CLERK, Edward Count

VS.

CASE NO. 90,493

JOHN WEBER, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

REPLY/ANSWER BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA TERENZIO

SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 656879
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299
(561) 688-7759

ETTIE FEISTMANN

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 892930

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in precluding Respondent from cross-examining the victim as to the minor victim's prior sexual acts. Respondent's confrontation rights were not infringed because his cross-examination of the victim was more than adequate to expose the victim's bias. The additional cross-examination he desired to undertake would not have enlightened the jury any further as to the victim's bias; thus, its prejudicial effect outweighed its probative value.

Similarly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in precluding the admission of an alleged prior inconsistent statement of the victim's mother. First, the statement was not inconsistent with her trial testimony, and thus not admissible for impeachment. Further, Respondent failed to lay the proper predicate to admit a prior inconsistent statement, had one been made. Finally, the mother's belief as to Respondent's guilt was properly excluded as irrelevant. Even if there were error in this instance it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing (three times) to permit Respondent to depose this minor sexual battery victim, for a third time. The prior depositions, as well as the victim's statement to police placed Respondent on sufficient notice of the evidence which would be offered by the State in support of the amended information, to satisfy due process. Respondent was not prejudiced by the trial court's ruling.

PAUSERS/APPEALS/ETTIEWEBERRBI 20

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER <u>DAVIS</u> APPLIES TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF <u>TRAYLOR</u>; THIS COURT HAS ANSWERED THIS CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE.

Respondent argued in its initial brief that the question certified by the fourth district court of appeal has been answered by this Court in <u>State v. Owen</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997), and thus is dispositive of this issue. It appears that respondent in his answer brief is trying incorrectly to reargue the question presented before this Court in <u>Owen</u>. Respondent argues that the "case at bar provides a good illustration of why the ambiguous response should be clarified. Respondent's statement that he couldn't afford a lawyer suggests very strongly that he did not understand his rights, and that remains part of the totality of the circumstances test for admissibility...." (AB 10). This argument appears to be merely an attempt by respondent to make this Court change its mind about its <u>Owen</u> decision.

Next, respondent argues in the alternative that because this Court should apply the holding in <u>Owen</u> prospectively, it does not apply to his case. Respondent, wants this Court to ignore the pipeline concept and follow <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992). This argument is flawed for at least two reasons. First, this Court in <u>Owen</u> specifically stated that <u>Owen</u> did not change this

⁹Respondent argues that this Court should decline to reinstate his conviction, because this Court "declined to do so in <u>State v. Owen</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S246 (Fla. May 8, 1997)]." In <u>Owen</u> this Court declined to reinstate Own's convictions, and stated that those final decisions were not subject to rehearing. That part of the <u>Owen</u> opinion does not apply to this case. Only the admissibility of respondent's confession is at issue. This Court in <u>Owen</u> stated in unambiguous terms that the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 512 U.S. 452 (1994) is the law in Florida, and applies to the admissibility of Owen's confession.

Court's view of the issue as outlined in <u>Traylor</u>. ¹⁰ In <u>Owen</u> this Court said:

Owen cites *Traylor v. State*, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992) in support of the argument that article I, section 9 provides an independent basis for requiring police to clarify a suspect equivocal request to terminate questioning. He relies specifically upon our statement in *Traylor* that "[u]nder section 9, if the suspect *indicates in any manner* that he or she does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must not begin or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop." *Id.* at 966. (Emphasis in original). In so doing he reads a meaning into these words that we never attributed to them

...Though our analysis in *Traylor* was grounded in the Florida Constitution, our conclusion were no different than those set forth in prior holdings of the United States Supreme Court. The words "indicates in any manner" manner added nothing to federal law, as they were identical to the words used in *Miranda* itself. [c.o.] Moreover, we did not construe these equivocal request because the defendant in *Traylor* made no request what so ever that he wished to invoke his *Miranda* rights. [c.o.] The words "in any manner" simply mean that there are no magic words that a suspect must use in order to invoke his or her rights.

Therefore, *Traylor* does not control our decision in this case. It does, however, remind us that we have the authority to reaffirm *Owen* regardless of federal law. Upon consideration, we choose not do so. We find the reasoning in *Davis* persuasive....[e.s.]

22 Fla. L. Weekly at S247.

This case is a "pipeline case," and, therefore, the question of retroactivity is not implicated. A "pipeline case" is one in which a conviction is *not* final by trial or appeal at the time a controlling decision is issued by the supreme court. Reed v. State, 565 So. 2d 708 (Fla. 1990); Smith v. State, 496 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). The appellate process is not completed until a mandate is issued. Thibodeau v. Sarasota Memorial Hospital, 449 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Here, the fourth district issued a mandate in this case. However, in response to the petitioner's motion to stay

¹⁰This Court though did overrule several other cases.

or recall mandate, this Court issued on May 22, 1997, a stay on the proceeding.¹¹ Thus, since the time has not expired for issuance of a mandate in this case, and since petitioner is entitled to the benefit of the law at the time of appellate disposition, this Court is required to follow its own recent holding in <u>Owen</u> as the law.

Respondent's arguments that he was coerced to make the confession was a fact to be decided by the trial judge who was the fact finder during the motion to suppress. Thus, such arguments should not be reviewed by this Court in this appeal. A trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress comes to the appellate court clothed with a presumption of correctness. Medina v. State, 466 So. 2d 1046, 1049-1050 (Fla. 1985). A reviewing court must defer to the fact-finding authority of the trial court and should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Wasko v. State, 505 So. 2d 1314, 1316 (Fla. 1987); DeConingh v. State, 433 So. 2d 501, 504 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1005, 104 S. Ct. 995, 79 L. Ed. 2d 228 (1984). The totality of the circumstances considered by the lower tribunal in making its evidentiary ruling cannot be reweighed on appeal. State v. Franko, 681 So. 2d 834 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). Although the appellate court might have ruled differently had it been sitting as the trier of fact, it cannot substitute its judgment for that of the able trial court on the question of witness credibility. Tibbs v. State, 397 So. 2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981), affirmed, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S. Ct. 2211, 72 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1982).

Thus, because respondent's arguments in support of answering the certified question are flawed, this Court should quash the district court of appeal's decision below and affirm the trial

¹¹This Court issued a stay in which it stated in pertinent part that "proceedings in the district court of appeal, ... are hereby stayed pending disposition of the Petition for Review filed herein." (This Court's order issued May 22, 1997). Obviously this Court did not consider this case to be final.

court judgment and sentence.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S PRIOR SEXUAL ACTIVITY.

The State filed a motion in limine seeking to preclude reference to the victim's prior sexual activity (T 399-403). The State contended that this evidence was not relevant to the charge of sexual activity with a child, that any relevance was outweighed by the prejudice, and that the rape shield law barred admission of the evidence. At trial, petitioner contended that such evidence was relevant to the victim's motive to fabricate, since Respondent had attempted to interfere with the victim's (voluntary) sexual relations with others (T 720-21). The trial court granted the State's motion, and excluded the evidence (T 721, 725, 743-45)¹².

It is a well settled principle that the conduct of trial proceedings lies within the broad discretion of the trial judge and should not be interfered with lightly by an appellate court. Revels v. State, 59 So. 951 (Fla. 1912). Although wide latitude is permitted on cross-examination in a criminal proceeding, its scope and limitation lies with the sound discretion of the trial judge and is not subject to review except for clear abuse of discretion. Bailey v. State, 411 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Medina v. State, 466 So. 2d 1046, 1050 (Fla. 1985); Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1986). The Sixth Amendment guarantees that a defendant will have the right to cross-examine witnesses; however, this is not an unlimited right.

¹²Ironically, the judge was of the opinion that this evidence would not assist Respondent's defense, but would harm it in that evidence that the victim was sexually abusing an 11-year-old child would tend to suggest that the victim himself had been abused, possibly by Respondent (T 744).

United States v. Alonso, 740 F. 2d 862, at 875 (11th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1166, 105S. Ct. 928, 83 L.Ed. 2d 939 (1985).

The Supreme Court has held that the Sixth Amendment "guarantees only 'an *opportunity* for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 739, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 2664, 96 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1987)(quoting Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106 S. Ct. 292, 294, 88 L.Ed. 2d 15 (1985))(per curiam)(emphasis in original). As long as a defendant is permitted sufficient cross-examination so that the jury may adequately assess a witness' credibility, the Sixth Amendment is satisfied. United States v. Burke, 738 F. 2d 1225, 1227 (11th Cir. 1984). Once cross-examination has been permitted to an extent sufficient to satisfy the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights, the trial judge's discretionary authority comes into play. Haber v. Wainwright, 756 F. 2d 1520, 1522 (11th Cir. 1985); United States v. Kopituk, 690 F. 2d 1289 (11th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 463 U.S. 1209 (1983). Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1986).

Finally, the trial court's determination that the evidence's probative value would be outweighed by its potential prejudice (to Respondent), is entitled to great deference. Sims v. Brown, 574 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1991) (where trial court has weighed probative value against prejudicial impact before reaching its decision to admit or exclude evidence, an appellate court will not overturn that decision absent a clear abuse of discretion).

In this case, the trial court was within its discretionary authority in ruling that the evidence of the victim's prior sexual relations with other minor children was not admissible under the Rape Shield Law, or, alternatively, that its probative value was outweighed by its potential prejudice.

Although Respondent is correct that, in some cases, the Rape Shield Law must give way to a criminal defendant's confrontation rights, such was not the case below. Respondent was able to explore R.S.'s bias against him to a degree sufficient to inform the jury as to R.S.'s credibility or bias, thus the Sixth Amendment was satisfied¹³. Burke, supra. It becomes clear that the varied testimony adduced at trial with regard to R.S.' feelings toward Respondent was sufficient to allow Respondent to present his defense, from reference to Respondent's closing argument, which emphasized R.S.' numerous troubles, including his intense hatred of Respondent¹⁴. Once his cross-examination met the Sixth Amendment requirements, it was proper for the court to limit questioning of the minor child about his sexual relations with other minor children. Haber, Kapituk, Van Arsdall, supra.

This case is unlike <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1991), upon which Respondent relies, because, in that case, the victim's motivation to fabricate the molestation charge (concealing her prior consensual sexual relations with her boyfriend, discovered in a gynecological exam),

¹³R.S. testified about the variety of problems he had with Respondent over chores, school work, curfews, and preferential treatment of brother Chris. R.S. also testified that he was involved with Nicole Jordatte, and that Respondent would limit his access to girls as punishment. He further indicated that he wanted nothing to do with Respondent, and *did not want him around*. He even admitted that he hated him, and that when he called police on Respondent, it was due in part, to his desire to get him out of the house due to all of these other difficulties, in addition to his allegations of abuse.

R.S. mother, Respondent's girlfriend, testified that Respondent disciplined R.S., and that he had expressed concern over R.S.' social interactions with Nicole and Carrie, as well as with other problems relating to school, curfews and chores. She confirmed that R.S. was jealous of his brother Chris.

Three other witnesses testified to R.S.' hatred of Respondent, his hatred for his brother, and his desire to get Respondent out of his house. They also agreed that R.S. was upset over Respondent's limitations on his interaction with Nicole.

¹⁴See Statement of the Case and Facts.

simply could not have been explained to the jury without revealing the victim's prior sexual activity.

Instead, this case is like Marr v. State, 494 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 1986), where the court rejected a claim that evidence of the victim's prior sexual relations with her boyfriend was necessary to support the defense of fabrication arising out of the victim's boyfriend's animosity toward the defendant. The court found that exclusion of the evidence that the victim and her boyfriend had a sexual relationship, did not violate the defendant's Sixth Amendment confrontation rights, because the depth of the couples' relationship, hence the victim's bias, was adequately demonstrated without delving into the sexual nature of the relationship. Id. at 1143. Any marginal relevance that additional evidence might have had was clearly overshadowed by the policy enunciated in section 794.022, and the trial court struck the proper balance in excluding the evidence of the sexual relationship. <u>Id.</u>, see also <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (trial court correctly excluded evidence of victim's prior consensual sex with boyfriend, notwithstanding that she had been severely whipped by her father upon his learning of the sex, on the very day she reported the sexual battery to her at her father's hands; defense of fabrication could be adequately presented without reference to the particular behavior of the victim which warranted the whipping.)

Even if this court were to reach the conclusion that the alleged error was actually error, Appellee submits in light of the other cross-examination and the strength of the evidence against Respondent, such as his various admissions of guilt, any error would be deemed harmless. Wasko v. Singletary, 966 F.2d 1377 (11th Cir. 1992), Livingston v. State, 565 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1988); Baker v. State, 517 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (alleged error in preventing defendant from

exposing bias through cross-examination of key witness harmless error where the alleged bias was demonstrated elsewhere during trial). This conviction should be affirmed.

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN EXCLUDING A STATEMENT OF THE VICTIM'S MOTHER

The admissibility of evidence is within a trial court's discretion, and a reviewing court should not disturb a trial court's evidentiary ruling unless an abuse of that discretion has been demonstrated. E.g., Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111, 102 S.Ct. 2916, 73 L. Ed. 2d 1322 (1982).

Respondent sought to introduce testimony of various family friends that R.S.' mother did not tell them that Respondent had confessed to her over the phone, and that she expressed doubts as to whether the accusations made by her son were true. (T 1294-6, 1298). The mother was impeached at trial by her deposition in which she did not mention any admission by Respondent. (T 922). She was further impeached with the fact that she could not remember whether she had related this admission to Detective Ponce. (T 925).

Ms. Cummins testified that Respondent had admitted the crimes in a phone conversation with her, as well. (T 957). Ms. Cummins further testified that when she spoke to R.S.' mother, the mother told her about the arrest, the polygraph, and that police claimed Respondent had admitted the crimes to them, but the mother did not tell her that Respondent had admitted the crimes to her. (T 961-5, 969). After Respondent's counsel was repeatedly prevented from inquiring whether R.S.' mother had indicated whether she believed her son's accusations, the trial court pulled counsel aside and told him that she was not going to rule on that issue again, that he was not to ask that question again, and that it was unethical to do so (T 970). Ultimately, the court allowed Respondent to proffer Ms. Easter and Mr. Jordatte's testimony that the mother had expressed doubts as to

Respondent's guilt. (T 1293-8). The trial court maintained her ruling that the mother's belief as to the credibility of her son, or as to the guilt or innocence of Respondent was irrelevant. (T 1297).

On appeal, Respondent does not contend that the proffered evidence was improperly excluded because it was relevant to the victim's credibility. Even if such a claim were made, this court could reject it on the basis that such evidence would merely have been cumulative to all the other evidence in the record about R.S.' lack of credibility. Errors in the improper admission of evidence are harmless if that evidence is merely cumulative of other, properly admitted, evidence. E.g., Selver v. State, 568 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (improper admission of hearsay which is cumulative of other evidence introduced is harmless error); Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987) (same); Hodges v. State, 595 So. 2d 929 (Fla.), vacated on other grounds, -- U.S. --, 113 S.Ct. 33. 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1992).

As to the claim that the testimony was admissible as impeachment of the mother's trial testimony, as a prior inconsistent statement, this argument is misplaced. Impeachment by prior inconsistent statement can occur only after the proper predicate has been laid. See generally, Erhardt, Florida Evidence, §608.4, (1994 ed.); §90.614(2), Fla. Stat. Here, no such predicate was laid while R.S.' mother was on the stand. She testified at trial that Respondent had admitted to her, in a phone call from the jail, that he was guilty. (T 872-3). She further testified that he had admitted his guilt in other phone calls, and letters. (T 878-80). During her cross-examination, she reaffirmed her direct testimony that Respondent had admitted his guilt to her. (T 920). She was not asked whether she had ever made a statement inconsistent with that trial testimony. Nevertheless, defense counsel proceeded in his attempt to impeach her with her deposition testimony in which she testified that Respondent had told her that the allegations were false, and

30

F/USERS/APPEALS/ETTIE/WEBER.RBI

that the victim had concocted the story from a movie they had watched together. (T 921). The mother testified, at trial, that Respondent had made that statement to her "somewhat later", than he made his admission (T 921-2). When asked why she had not mentioned Respondent's admission to her during her deposition, she testified that she could not remember what she had said in that regard. (T 922).

Later, counsel inquired whether, when Respondent was first arrested, she had "some question about whether these allegations had occurred." (T 924). The trial court sustained the State's objection, made on relevancy, as well as "improper" [presumably improper impeachment] grounds; Respondent had made no counter-argument. (T 925). Respondent never attempted to rephrase his question so that it would have been a proper predicate-laying question, e.g. ("Did you ever tell anyone that Respondent did *not* admit his guilt to you?"). Only if she had been asked that question, and had denied making such a statement, could she properly have been impeached by the admission of other witnesses' testimony to the contrary. Since no foundation was laid for the impeachment, the trial court properly excluded the proffered evidence. Snodderly v. State, 528 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (testimony as to prior inconsistent statement properly excluded where declarant was never asked if she had made the statement); Irons v. State, 498 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) (same); Studstill v. State, 394 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) (same).

Moreover, there are other reasons why the evidence was properly excluded. It is clear that none of the proffered witnesses were to testify that the mother had made a statement that directly contradicted her trial testimony, i.e., no one testified that she had ever stated that Respondent had not admitted his guilt. What defense counsel wished to impeach her with was her prior statements that evidenced her own personal doubt as to Respondent's guilt. Those statements do not directly

P:USPR#SAPPEALSIETTIFINWEBERRBI 31

contradict her trial testimony that Respondent admitted his guilt to her; the statements are not mutually exclusive¹⁵. While it might seem unusual that she would entertain doubts as to Respondent's guilt, notwithstanding his admission of guilt to her, unusualness is not an adequate basis for impeachment. Rather, she could only be impeached by a prior *inconsistent* statement, none of which were proffered by Respondent. Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1991) (for a prior statement to be inconsistent for impeachment purposes, prior statement must either directly contradict or materially differ from testimony at trial); State v. Smith, 573 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1990) (same).

Finally, even if there were error in the exclusion of the proffered evidence it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt since Patricia Cummins also testified that Respondent had admitted his crime to her, in a telephone conversation, and since Respondent confessed his crime to police. Errors in the improper admission of evidence are harmless if that evidence is merely cumulative of other, properly admitted, evidence. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Selver v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (improper admission of hearsay which is cumulative of other evidence introduced is harmless error); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987) (same); <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 929 (Fla.), <u>vacated on other grounds</u>, — U.S. —, 113 S.Ct. 33. 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1992).

¹⁵For example, she could have been unwilling to believe the admission of guilt, she may have believed it was a coerced statement, she may have believed he was kidding, or crazy.

POINT IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO PERMIT RESPONDENT TO DEPOSE THE VICTIM A THIRD TIME.

Trial Court Proceedings

On September 26, 1994, after the State filed the amended information, Respondent moved for a continuance, which was granted, albeit begrudgingly. (T 362-9). On October 17, 1994, Respondent moved for leave to take a *third* deposition of R.S. (T 372). The motion alleged that eleven of the fourteen counts charged in the amended information covered periods of time (December 1991, through October 1992), which had not yet been charged at the time the first two depositions of the victim were taken. The prosecutor countered that the original information had been amended to conform with the evidence revealed in the depositions, as well as the police report, thus the defense had known all along that the crimes were alleged to have been committed during those time periods. (T 373). The trial court denied the motion to redepose the victim, indicating that the court had reviewed the victim's prior deposition (sic). (T 375).

A successor judge reconsidered the motion before trial and the judge refused to disturb the ruling on the motion, absent any changed circumstances. (T 414-20). The trial court did require, pursuant to Respondent's request, the State to substantiate, in writing, its prior representation to the predecessor judge that the prior depositions covered the new time periods alleged in the amended information. (T 414-20).

The original judge then resumed her role as presiding judge in this case, and the motion to redepose R.S. was again considered. (T 427-30). The defense contended that the stipulation filed by the State in support of its representation that the prior depositions had covered the newly alleged

time periods, did not, in fact, reflect the accuracy of that representation. (T 429-30). The trial court considered the matter again, thoroughly, and, notwithstanding that the court had already read the depositions at the time she made her initial ruling, she reserved ruling while she read the depositions and the police report again, overnight. (T 446-58). Ultimately, the trial court denied Respondent's second motion for rehearing of his original motion to redepose the victim. (T 385).

Statements and Testimony of Victim

The victim's sworn statement to police indicates that the abuse lasted for a two year period. (T 2)¹⁶. The first incident occurred approximately two months after his thirteenth birthday, the next two weeks later, the next two to four weeks later, and the next two or three weeks after that. (T 2-4). Another incident occurred two or three months later, and that incident was repeated five or six more times. (T 5). Then, three or four subsequent incidents occurred which were of a different nature. (T 6). The last incident occurred in December 1993. (T 9). The victim stated that, from the time the abuse began, until it ended, it occurred on a "steady weekly basis", sometimes as often as every other day, but at least weekly. (T 10-11). All in all, the victim estimated that there were probably sixty different instances. (T 11).

Detective Ponce testified that the victim's statement covered the following time periods: December 1991, January 1992, February 1992, March through May 1992, until February 1993. (T 1018-21).

Respondent's own (second) sworn statement to police stated that the incidents continued for

¹⁶This transcript will likely reach the court subsequent to this brief, in that the State's motion to supplement the record with the statement was just granted.

eight or nine months, after they began in 1991. (T 6-7).

In his first deposition, R.S. testified that the molestation began when he was twelve (October 3, 1990, through October 2, 1991) approximately two years before the charges were made, which would be October, 1991. (SR 13-14). The second incident occurred a week later. (SR 17). He then testified, when asked when the next (third) incident occurred, "It happened repeatedly, like every week or --." (SR 22). He clarified that the third incident was more serious that the first two, which were just fondling, and that it occurred approximately three weeks after the first (late October). (SR 22).

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